ASSIGMENTS OF ERROR 


I. 	 The Circuit Court erred in granting Respondent summary judgment pursuant to 
Rule 56( c) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure without considering the 
substantial amount of uncontroverted evidence in the record demonstrating 
Petitioner set forth a viable premises liability claim and the complete absence of 
any evidence supporting the finding that Petitioner set forth a claim for medical 
professional liability subject to the Medical Professional Liability Act, West 
Virginia Code § 55-7B-l, et seq. 

II. 	 The Circuit Court committed multiple errors when granting Respondent summary

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. 	 Statement of Facts 

On January 25, 2013, Andrew and Joyce Minnich arrived at the South Charleston, WV 

MedExpress because Mr. Minnich felt weak and was short of breath. JA 32 at W12 and 14; JA 

368-69. After arriving and prior to any medical evaluation taking place, Jessica Hively 
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("Hively"), Respondent's employee, inquired into the reason for Mr. Minnich's visit. JA 32 at ~ 

13. Mr. Minnich advised that he was short ofbreath, feeling weak, recently had hip surgery, and 

recently stopped using a walker. JA 32 at ~ 14; JA 369. After answering Hively's questions, 

Mr. and Mrs. Minnich were escorted to examination room three. Id.; JA 379 at 91. Upon 

arriving at examination room three, Hively entered the room and turned on the light. JA 389 at 

95-96. Thereafter, she told Mr. Minnich, "I need you to get up on the table," while awaiting the 

physician. JA 32 at ~~ 13 and 16; JA 370. Unbeknownst to Mr. and Mrs. Minnich, when Hively 

advised Mr. Minnich to get on the examination table, Respondent had failed to prepare the table 

for use. JA 33 at ~ 18; JA 374. Although it was Respondent's policy to fully extend the 

retractable footstool used to assist patients onto the examination table, the footstool in this case 

was not so extended. JA 33 at ~~ 18 and 19; JA 373-74; JA 380 at 104 - JA 381 at 105; JA 383; 

JA 387 at 57, JA 390 at 100. By failing to properly prepare the examination table for use, 

Respondent created an unsafe, dangerous condition which Respondent knew could cause a fall. 

JA 34 at ~ 31 and 33; JA 391 at 101, 103; JA 378 at 86-88 - JA 379 at 89. Moreover, 

Respondent specifically acknowledged that properly extending the examination table's footstool 

was ofparticular importance to those in a condition similar to Mr. Minnich. JA 379 at 90-91. 

Following her instructions to Mr. Minnich, a 71 year old man, Hively left the room 

without assisting or offering to assist Mr. Minnich onto the examination table. JA 32 at ~ 17; JA 

370; JA 389 at 95-96. Mr. Minnich followed Hively'S instruction and attempted to access the 

table by means of the partially extended footstool in his obviously weakened condition and fell 

back into his wife before they both hit the floor. JA 33 at ~~ 19 and 20; JA 371-72. At the time 

of the fall, Mr. Minnich had received no diagnosis, treatment or care from any medical provider. 

He was awaiting the arrival of the physician as Hively directed. As a direct and proximate cause 
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ofRespondent's failure to prepare the examination room for use - fully extending the footstool

both Mr. and Mrs. Minnich were injured. JA 33 at ~~ 22, 23. Mrs. Minnich suffered a 

periorbital hematoma and knot on the back of her head. JA 33 at ~ 23. Mr. Minnich suffered a 

laceration stretching the length of his forearm and subarachnoid hemorrhage ("brain bleed"). JA 

33 at ~ 22. The brain bleed substantially contributed to Mr. Minnich's physical deconditioning 

and ultimately to his untimely death on April 25, 2013 or a mere 90 days after his fall from the 

defective examination table. JA 393 at 19-20; JA 395 at 81. 

II. Procedural History 

On August 14,2013, Petitioner filed her Complaint, which included the following counts: 

(1) Negligence (Premise Liability); (2) Loss of Consortium; and (3) Wrongful Death. JA 29-37. 

On March 7, 2014, the Kanawha County Circuit Clerk entered default against Respondent. JA 

38. On September 3,2014, over Petitioner's objection, the Circuit Court entered its "Order and 

Memorandum Opinion Granting Defendant's Motion to Set Aside Entry of Default." JA 39-55. 

Thereafter, Respondent filed its answer on September 8, 2014 and introduced into this action the 

Medical Professional Liability Act, West Virginia Code § 55-7B-1, et seq., ("MPLA") by means 

of an aff1rIDative defense. JA 56-67. 

On October 24, 2014, Respondent filed "Defendant MedExpress Urgent Care, Inc. -

West Virginia d/b/a MedExpress Urgent Care - South Charleston's Motion for Summary 

Judgment" and a brief in support thereof arguing that the MPLA was applicable to Petitioner's 

claims because the fall occurred during the "continuity of care." JA 68-87. On November 12, 

2014, Petitioner filed "Plaintiff's Response in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for Summary 

Judgment."! JA 88-139. Thereafter, Respondent filed its Reply. JA 140-147. On December 1, 

Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment was noticed on November 6, 2014 for a hearing to occur on 
November 13, 2014, in violation of Rule 6 of the West Virginia. Rules of Civil Procedure, which requires that notice 
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2014, the Circuit Court entered its "Order and Memorandum Opinion Granting Defendant's 

Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Claims of Andrew Minnich" ("Summary Judgment 

Order")? JA 9-25. Therein, the Circuit Court erroneously granted Respondent summary 

judgement as to Petitioner's premises liability claim by finding the MPLA applicable to 

Petitioner's claims and directed Petitioner to amend her Complaint to assert a medical 

professional liability claim against Respondent in accordance with the MPLA. JA 24-25. 

On January 16, 2015, Petitioner filed her "Petition for Writ of Prohibition" with this 

Court seeking to prohibit the enforcement of the Circuit Court's Summary Judgment and Default 

Orders. JA 148-300. Thereafter, Respondent responded thereto. JA 301-345. On March 11, 

2015, this Court found that a rule should not be awarded and Petitioner's Writ was refused. JA 

346. 

On May 18, 2015, Petitioner filed her "Motion for Reconsideration of Order and 

Memorandum Opinion Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Claims of 

Andrew Minnich." JA 347-396. Next, Petitioner filed her "Notice of Supplemental Authority in 

Support of Motion for Reconsideration of Order and Memorandum Opinion Granting 

Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Claims of Andrew Minnich." JA 397-416. 

On August 26, 2015, Respondent filed "Defendant's Response to Plaintiffs Motion for 

Reconsideration." JA 417-436. On August 28,2015, Petitioner filed her "Reply in Support of 

Plaintiffs Motion for Reconsideration." JA 437-452. Thereafter, on October 27, 2015, the 

Circuit Court entered its "Order Denying Plaintiffs Motion for Reconsideration of Order and 

Memorandum Opinion Granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment as to the Claims of 

of a hearing be filed at least seven days before the hearing - not counting weekends. W.Va. R. Civ. 6. By 
application of Rule 6, the notice given by Respondent was only five days. Although Petitioner objected, the 
objections were rebuffed by the Circuit Court. 
2 The Summary Judgment Order was drafted by Respondent's counsel and was entered by the Circuit Court with 
only one change. The Circuit Court added a line noting Petitioner's objections to the Order. 
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Andrew Minnich" (Reconsideration Order"). JA 1-8. Therein, the Court affirmed and adopted 

by reference its Summary Judgment Order - granting Respondent summary judgment with 

regard to Petitioner's premises liability claim, finding the MPLA applicable to Petitioner's 

claims and ordering Petitioner to amend her Complaint to assert a medical professional liability 

claim against Respondent pursuant to the MPLA. Id. The Circuit Court reached this erroneous 

conclusion by ignoring and disregarding several dispositive factors precluding such a holding: 

(1) Mr. Minnich had received no medical diagnosis or treatment prior to his fall; (2) Petitioner 

asserted no claims for medical professional liability; (3) the uncontroverted evidence clearly 

demonstrated a viable premises liability claim; (4) despite the fact that Respondent filed a motion 

for summary judgment, the Circuit Court failed to consider the evidence submitted by Petitioner 

resisting Respondent's Motion; (5) the substance of the action against Respondent is 

Respondent's failure to maintain a safe environment by exposing business invitees to defective 

equipment - a partially extended footstool; (5) Mr. Minnich's fall as a result of a known 

dangerous condition - a partially extended footstool - bears absolutely no relationship to any 

medical treatment Mr. Minnich may have received; (6) the "continuity of care" argument 

adopted by the Circuit Court contradicts this Court's controlling precedent; (7) the record 

contains no evidentiary support for the Circuit Court's finding that Petitioner's claim was based 

upon a fall risk assessment of Mr. Minnich; (8) Mr. Minnich was never seen by a healthcare 

provider as defined by W.Va. Code § 55-7B-2(g)(2006) prior to his fall; and (9) the Circuit Court 

reliance upon foreign case law was misplaced. Further, the Reconsideration Order found that the 

Summary Judgment Order was a final order disposing of Petitioner's premises liability claim. 

JA 5-7. Continuing, the Court found that Petitioner will suffer undue hardship if she was forced 

to go through trial under potentially the wrong legal theory, file a post-trial appeal and, then 
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repeat the whole process. JA 6. Consequently, the Circuit Court found, without objection from 

Respondent, the Summary Judgment Order to be a final judgment and immediately appealable 

under Rule 54(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure ("W.Va. Rules"). JA 6-7. 

On November 24, 2015, Petitioner timely filed her Notice of Appeal seeking relief from 

the Circuit Court's Reconsideration Order and its erroneous holdings: (1) granting Respondent 

summary judgment with regard to Petitioner's premises liability claim; (2) finding the MPLA 

applicable to Petitioner's premises liability claim; and (3) mandating that Petitioner amend her 

Complaint to assert a medical professional liability action subject to the MPLA against 

Respondent. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Respondent sought summary judgment with regard to Petitioner's premises liability claim 

contending that Petitioner's claim was actually for medical professional liability and subject to 

the MPLA. Rule 56(c) of the W.Va. Rules and the precedent of this Court dictate that in 

addressing a motion for summary judgment, a court must consider the exhibits, affidavits 

depositions, answers to interrogatories, answers to admissions and other matters submitted by the 

party seeking and the party resisting summary judgment. W.Va. Civ. P. 56(c); Raga v. King 

Coal Chevrolet Co., 151 W.Va. 125, 132, 150 S.E.2d 599, 603 (1966). In this case, the Circuit 

Court committed clear error by failing to consider the substantial evidence submitted by 

Petitioner demonstrating her claim sounded in premises liability. This evidence was made all the 

more persuasive by the complete absence of evidence refuting Petitioner's evidence and/or 

evidence demonstrating that Petitioner actually asserted a medical professional liability claim 

subject to the MPLA. 
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The Circuit Court erroneously found that Petitioner's premises liability claim was 

actually a claim for medical professional liability subject to the MPLA. To reach this 

unsustainable conclusion, the Circuit Court committed numerous errors. 

The Circuit Court erred in finding that Mr. Minnich received health care services prior to 

his fall. Specifically, the Circuit Court found that he was evaluated and triaged by a heath care 

professional. However, Respondent presented the Circuit Court no evidence demonstrating that 

Mr. Minnich was evaluated and triaged prior to his fall. Thus, the Circuit Court's finding 

constitutes clear error. Further, the sole allegation in the Complaint regarding the subject set 

forth that Mr. Minnich was asked preliminary questions regarding his medical history and the 

purpose of his visit. In addition, the Circuit Court could not cite a single case from any 

jurisdiction supporting the assertion that the intake functions alleged in Petitioner's Complaint 

constituted health care services. Finally, without justification, the Circuit Court ignored relevant, 

persuasive authority addressing the very issue and concluding that intake functions do not 

constitute health care services. 

For a claim to fall within the MPLA's purview, the claim must be based upon health care 

services rendered or that should have been rendered to a patient by a health care professional. 

This is fact driven inquiry that, at the summary judgment phase, examines the fundamental basis 

of the tort and! or the substance of the action by reviewing the record evidence. In this case, there 

is substantial, uncontroverted evidence demonstrating that substance of Petitioner's claim is 

Respondent's failure to maintain a safe environment by exposing business invitees to defective 

equipment - an examination table's partially extended footstool. There is simply no connection 

between any health care services that Mr. Minnich received or should have received and 

Respondent's failure to fully extend a footstool in accordance with its own policy. No 
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professional standard of care exists for extending a footstool and, as such, no reputable physician 

would opine regarding the same. The duty breached in this case is a general duty owed by 

Respondent to all non-trespassers and not a special duty relating to Mr. Minnich's medical 

treatment. 

The Circuit Court erred by adopting, in contradiction of controlling precedent, 

Respondent's "continuity of care" argument that essentially provides that once you become a 

patient, any claim you may have against a health care provider until discharge falls within the 

purview of the MPLA because it occurred during the "continuity of care". lbis argument was 

specifically rejected by this Court when holding that the fact that an injury occurs at a health care 

facility to a patient, without more, is insufficient to bring the claim within the purview of the 

MPLA. Manor Care, Inc. v. Douglas, 234 W.Va. 57, 73 763 S.E.2d 73, 89 (2014). Moreover, 

the argument renders superfluous the text of the MPLA limiting its application to claims based 

upon health care services rendered or that should have been rendered to a patient and vastly 

expands the scope of the MPLA in contradiction of controlling precedent stating that statutes in 

derogation ofthe common law must be strictly construed to limit their effect. 

The Circuit Court places great weight on Palmese v. Med-Help, P.C., 2013 WL 3617085 

(Conn. Super.) (Unpublished) to support its grant of summary judgment to Respondents. This 

reliance on Palmese, supra, is improper because: (1) the case is of no precedential value 

anywhere, including Connecticut; (2) this Court never adopted the test relied upon in Palmese to 

determine whether a claim was for medical professional liability; (3) unlike the instant action, 

Palmese did not involve a piece of defective equipment; and (4) the Circuit Court ignored 

precedent from the same jurisdiction paralleling the facts of the instant action. 
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The Circuit Court committed reversible error in finding that Petitioner's claim is based 

upon a fall risk assessment because: (1) there is no evidence in the record to support the finding 

that Petitioner's claim is based upon a fall risk assessment of Mr. Minnich, which is necessary to 

support such a finding at the summary judgment phase; (2) there was no allegation in the 

Complaint to support a finding that Petitioner's claim was based upon a fall risk assessment of 

Mr. Minnich; (3) Respondent's proffered defense was not that Respondent properly assessed Mr. 

Minnich's ability to get on the examination table without assistance; instead, Respondent argued 

that Mr. Minnich was never told to get on the examination table and, in fact, no one is ever told 

to get on the examination table while awaiting a physician. Thus, not only was a fall risk 

assessment not done in this case, it is never done with regard to getting on an examination table. 

The Circuit Court erred in finding that Mr. Minnich was seen by a health care 

professional prior to his fall. Hively, a medical assistant, was the only person with whom Mr. 

Minnich had contact prior to his fall and the MPLA's definition of health care provider omits 

medical assistants. This Court adheres to the maxim that the express mention of one thing 

implies the exclusion of another. Further, this Court has found that a court should not read into a 

statute that which is omitted. In accordance with these statutory maxims, it is presumed that the 

omission of medical assistant from the definition of health care provider was purposeful and, 

therefore, the term should not be read into the statute. Moreover, when previously asked to 

broadly interpret the MPLA' s definition of health care provider so as to read pharmacies into it, 

this Court refused, noting that the MPLA is in derogation of the common law and, therefore, 

must be narrowly construed. Phillips v. Larry's Drive-In Pharmacy, Inc., 220 W.Va. 484, 491

92,647 S.E.2d 920,927-28 (2007). Finally, contrary to the Circuit Court's finding, Hively is not 

a certified medical assistant and the MPLA requires that all health care providers be either 
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licensed by or certified in West Virginia or another state. As Hively was neither, she cannot be a 

health care provider. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Oral argument is appropriate pursuant to Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of 

Appellate Procedure to aid in this Court's consideration of this case. Petitioner requests oral 

argument pursuant to Rule 19 of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure because the 

case involves assignments of error in the application of settled law and the findings below were 

not supported by the record. W.Va. R. App. P. 19(a)(1) and (3). 

ARGUMENT 

I. Standard of Review 

This Court applies a de novo review to a trial court's grant of summary judgment under 

Rule 56 of the W.Va. Rules. Syl. Pt. 1, Painterv. Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). 

In conducting its de novo review, this Court has held: 

[W]e are mindful that "[a] motion for summary judgment should 
be granted only when it is clear that there is no genuine issue of 
fact to be tried and inquiry concerning the facts is not desirable to 
clarify the application of the law." 

Fleet v. Webber Springs Owners Ass'n, Inc., 235 W.Va. 184, --, 772 S.E.2d 369, 373 (2015), 

(quoting, in part, Syl. Pt. 3, Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Federal Ins. Co. of New York, 148 W.Va. 

160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963)). 

"Summary judgment is generally viewed with caution in this jurisdiction." Lengyel v. 

Lint, 167 W.Va. 272, 279, 280 S.E.2d 66, 71 (1981). In explaining summary judgment 

jurisprudence in West Virginia, this Court has held, "The burden of showing that no genuine 

factual dispute exists rests on the party seeking summary judgment; in assessing the record to 

determine whether there is a genuine issue as to any material facts, the circuit court is required to 
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resolve all ambiguities and draw all inferences in favor of the party against whom summary 

judgment is sought." Hanlon v. Chambers, 195 W.Va. 99, 105, 464 S.E.2d 741, 747 (1995) 

(emphasis added). Continuing, this Court found that "in order for summary judgment to be 

proper, the movant must demonstrate that there is no evidence to support the non-movant's case 

and 'that the evidence is so one-sided that the movant must prevail as a matter of law. ", Shaffer 

v. Acme Limestone Co., 206 W.Va. 333, 339-40, 524 S.E.2d 688, 694-94 (1999), (quoting, in 

part, Tolliver v. The Kroger Co., 201 W.Va. 509, 513, 498 S.E.2d 702, 706 (1997». As 

demonstrated infra, Respondent failed to meet this stringent standard. 

II. 	 The Circuit Court Erred by Failing to Consider the Record when Ruling on 
Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment 

The Circuit Court erroneously rests its finding that Petitioner's claim is not for premises 

liability, but a claim for medical professional liability subject to the MPLA solely upon its 

interpretation of the Complaint's allegations. However, Respondent did not file a motion to 

dismiss; instead, Respondent sought summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56(c) of the W.Va. 

Rules. Rule 56(c) requires that a court consider the pleadings, depositions, answers to 

interrogatories and admissions on file before granting summary judgment. W.Va. R. Civ. Pro. 

56(c). Moreover, this Court has explicitly held, "Upon a motion for summary judgment all 

exhibits, affidavits and other matters submitted by both parties should be considered by the 

court." Haga v. King Coal Chevrolet Co., 151 W.Va. 125, 132, 150 S.E.2d 599, 603 (1966). See 

also, Syl. Pt. 2, Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (holding that "[o]n a 

motion for summary judgment all papers of record and all matters submitted by both parties 

should be considered by the court"); Crain v. Lighter, 178 W.Va. 765, 768, 364 S.E.2d 778, 781 

(1987) (holding that a party resisting a motion for summary judgment cannot rely solely upon 

hislher pleading but must be present evidence supporting hislher position).

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