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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The trial court's opinion granting summary judgment was correct and should be affinned. 

Petitioner's claims to the contrary, the Medical Professional Liability Act ("MPLA"), West 

Virginia Code § 55-7B-1, et seq. applies to Petitioner's claims because the claims were based 

upon health services rendered or that should have been rendered to Mr. Minnich are unfounded. 

The record provides that MedExpress is undisputedly a "health care provider" pursuant to the 

MPLA, and that Mr. Minnich had been admitted to the MedExpress facility and had been triaged 

prior to her fall from the examination table. Moreover, MA Hively, as MedExpress' employee 

who triaged Mr. Minnich, was also a health care provider who's actions were covered by the 

MPLA. 

Perhaps realizing that the record is stacked against her, Petitioner attempts to raise false 

alarm bells by maintaining that this case will result in a slippery slope of non-health care related 

claims being tried under the rubric of the MPLA. The exaggerated example Petitioner provides 

is one where a patient, after admission, is struck by a ceiling tile while walking from the 

intake room to the examining room. (Petitioner Br., at 25.) Petitioner's attempts to raise this 

hypothetical straw man, though, are unavailing. The Circuit Court's decision is not, despite 

Petitioner's protestations to the contrary, a drastic deviation from the law of the MPLA. 

Rather, it is entirely consistent with the MPLA. Mr. Minnich was undisputedly a patient at 

MedExpress and was admitted as such. He was injured due to a fall from an examination 

table; among other things, he asserts medical negligence due to MedExpress' alleged failure 
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to properly evaluate, consider, supervise and assist Mr. Minnich, in his already weakened 

medical condition, as he attempted to alight on the table. This is not a random act or defect 

which caused the injury, unlike the hypothetical falling ceiling tile, which could occur in any 

office building open to the public. Thus, the MPLA clearly applies to this lawsuit, and the 

Circuit Court correctly dismissed Petitioner's premises liability claim. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

MedExpress believes the appeal is wholly without merit and therefore does not favor oral 

argument, pursuant to the provisions of Ru1e 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate 

Procedure. 

ARGUMENT 

I. 	 Counterstatement of Standard of Review 

This Court's review of the order granting summary judgment is plenary, as it will be 

examining the grounds upon which the circuit court relied in granting summary judgment. See 

Syl. Pt. 1, Painter v. Peavy, 192 W.Va. 189,451 S.E.2d 755 (1994) ("A circuit court's entry of 

summary judgment is reviewed de novo."). As this Court stated in syllabus point three of 

Painter, "[t]he circuit court's function at the summary judgment stage is not to weigh the 

evidence and determine the truth of the matter, but is to determine whether there is a genuine 

issue for trial." Id. at 190, 451 S.E.2d at 756. This Court views the facts in the light most 

favorable to Petitioners, as the losing party. See Masinter v. WEBCO Co., 164 W.Va. 241,242, 

262 S.E.2d 433,435 (1980). 

When granting a motion for summary judgment, a circuit court must make factual 

findings sufficient to permit meaningful appellate review. See Syl. Pt. 3, Fayette Cty. Nat'l 

Bankv. Lilly, 199 W.Va. 349,484 S.E.2d 232 (1997) overruled on other grounds by Sostaric v. 

Marshall, 234 W.Va. 449, 766 S.E.2d 396 (2014) ("Although our standard of review for 
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summary judgment remains de novo, a circuit court's order granting summary judgment must set 

out factual findings sufficient to permit meaningful appellate review. Findings of fact, by 

necessity, include those facts which the circuit court finds relevant, determinative of the issues 

and undisputed."). "If there is no genuine issue as to any material fact summary judgment should 

be granted but such judgment must be denied if there is a genuine issue as to a material fact." 

Syllabus Point 4, Aetna Casualty & Surety Company v. Federal Insurance Company of New 

York, 148 W.Va. 160, 133 S.E.2d 770 (1963). 

II. 	 The Circuit Court Correctly Determined That There Was No Valid Premises 
Liability Claim And That The Evidence Supported The Finding That The Claim 
Was Properly Styled As One For Professional Liability Pursuant To the MPLA. 
(Assignment of Error ij. 

According to the Petitioner, the Circuit's Court's summary judgment ruling "inexplicably 

transformed Petitioner's clear liability case into a medical professional liability claim subject to 

the MPLA." (Petitioner Br., at 16.) She also accuses the Circuit Court of ignoring a "substantial 

amount of record evidence" that would demonstrate that this is actually a premises liability claim 

and not a medical professional liability case under the MPLA. This argument distorts the record 

in this case, as Petitioner is seemingly confused as to what amounts to a "genuine issue of 

material fact," the governing standard for deciding a motion for summary judgment. Indeed, and 

as the Court correctly found, the Complaint itself, while styled as one for premises liability, 

contains numerous facts which, as pled, brings this case under the MPLA. 

When deciding this question, it is useful first to briefly outline the nature and operation of 

the MPLA. As this Honorable Court is aware, the MPLA is the governing body of law for all 

negligence claims involving "medical professional liability" in West Virginia. See, generally, 

W.Va. Code §55-7B-l, et seq. The West Virginia Legislature's intent in passing the MPLA was 

to provide an exclusive remedy to address any claims related "to health care services rendered, or 
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that should have been rendered" by a "health care provider". Boggs v. Camden-Clark Mem. 

Hosp., 216 W.Va. 656, 662, 609 S.E.2d 917, 923 (2004) (emphasis added). Boggs and its 

progeny has established that the MPLA applies to claims resulting from the death or injury of a 

person for any tort or breach of contract based on health care services rendered, or which 

should have been rendered by a health care provider or health care facility to a patient. Boggs, 

609 S.E.2d at 923. (emphasis added). 

"Health care" as defined under the MPLA is recognized to include: "any act or treatment 

perfonned or furnished, or which should have been perfonned or furnished, by a health care 

provider for, to or on behalf of a patient during the patient's medical care, treatment or 

confinement". See, W.Va. Code §55-7B-2(e) (2010); see, also, Blankenship v. Eihicon, 221 

W.Va. 700, 656 S.E.2d 451, 458 (2007). Further, "health care provider" is defined under W.Va. 

Code §55-7B-2(g) as: 

A person, partnership, corporation, professional limited liability company, 
health care facility or institution licensed by, or certified in, the state or 
another state, to provide professional health care services, including, but 
not limited to, a physician, osteopathic physician, hospital, dentist, 
registered or licensed practical nurse, optometrist, podiatrist, chiropractor, 
physical therapist, psychologist, emergency medical services authority or 
agency, or an officer, employee or agent thereof acting in the course and 
scope ofsuch officers, employees or agents employment. 

W.Va. Code §55-7B-2 (2010) (Italics Added). 

When a claim is subject to the MPLA, a claimant is required to adhere to the statutorily 

mandated requirements as provided under W.Va. Code §55-7B-6(b) (2010). Specifically, a 

claimant must file a "Notice of Claim" and may be required to submit a "Screening Certificate of 

Merit" prior to filing a complaint in civil action. See,Id. Failure to do so prohibits a claimant 

from asserting a claim for medical professional liability. See, W.Va. Code §55-7B-6(a) (2010). 

The Courts of West Virginia have previously cautioned counsel regarding the failure to comply 
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with the pre-suit mandates of the MPLA. Specifically, in Cline v. Kresa Reahl MD., 728 S.E.2d 

87, 96 (W. Va. 2012), the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals recognized the Court's 

cautionary warning in Gray v. Mena, 218 W.Va. 564, 625 S.E.2d 326 (2005), providing: ''we 

would strongly encourage litigants to err on the side of caution by complying with the 

requirements of the act if any doubt exists ..." Cline, quoting Gray, 218 W.Va. at 571, 625 at 

333. 

In the instant matter, there is no dispute that MedExpress is a health care provider as 

recognized and defined under the MPLA. See, W.Va. Code §44-7B-2(g), a fact Petitioner cannot 

deny. Curiously, however, Petitioner characterizes Mr. Minnich as a "customer" in her 

Complaint. (JA 33). It is apparent that Petitioner's characterization is deliberately intended to 

disassociate Petitioner's claim from a medical provider/patient setting, and ultimately, from the 

MPLA. Despite Petitioner's artful characterization, however, the allegations in the Complaint, 

and the record, clearly establish that Mr. Minnich presented to MedExpress on January 25,2013, 

for the express purpose of receiving medical evaluation, treatment and care. (JA 32). Mr. 

Minnich presented to MedExpress as a patient on January 25,2013, and consented to be treated 

as a patient prior to the time of the alleged incident which is the subject of the Complaint. !d. 

Syl. Pt. 4 of Blakenship clarifies that whether the MPLA applies to a claim is not driven 

by the characterization of a claim assigned by Plaintiffs counsel in the four comers of a 

Complaint. Rather, as the Court in Blankenship recognized: 

The failure to plead a claim as governed by the Medical Professional 
Liability Act, W.Va. Code §55-7B-l, et. seq., does not preclude 
application of the Act. Where the alleged tortious acts or omissions are 
committed by a health care provider within the context of the rendering of 
'health care' as defined by W.Va. Code §55-7B-2(e) (2006) (Supp. 2007), 
the Act applies regardless ofhow the claims have been plead. 

Syl. Pt. 4, Blankenship, 656 S.E.2d at 453. 
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In Boggs, the Court further delineated what claims are subject to the MPLA. The Boggs 

Court noted that the Legislature has granted special protection to medical professionals, while 

they are acting as such. Consequently, this protection does not extend to intentional torts or acts 

outside the scope of 'health care services.' Boggs, 609 S.E.2d at 923. (emphasis added). 

In the instant case, Petitioner attempted to creatively circumvent the MPLA to assert a 

"premises liability" claim, ignoring the aspects of health care involved, stating that the alleged 

injuries arose from MedExpress' purported failure to "provide assistance, supervision, and to 

implement basic precautions and procedures to guard and protect the safety of its customers." 

(JA 34). Petitioner also claims that it was: 

reasonably foreseeable that directing an individual weakened by illness 
and only recently walking without assistance to get on an exam table 
without making certain that the retractable step is fully extended, 
without assisting hirnlher to get on the table and without observing 
hirnlher to get on the table and with observing himlher getting on the 
exam table would result in injury. 

(JA 34). 

In West Virginia, a plaintiff must demonstrate the following elements to establish a 

premises liability claim: (1) that the owner had actual or constructive knowledge of the foreign 

substance or defective condition and (2) that the invitee had no knowledge of the substance or 

condition or was prevented by the owner from discovering it. See, Hawkins v. U.S. Sports Ass 'n, 

Inc., 219 W. Va. 275,279, 633 S.E.2d 31, 35 (2006) (quoting, McDonald v. University of West 

Virginia Board ofTrustees, 191 W.Va. 179,44 S.E2d 57 (1994) (internal citations omitted»; see, 

also, Eichelberger v. United States, 2006 WL 533399 (N.D. W.Va. 2006). Petitioner did not 

present any evidence that the subject examination table was defective, or that MedExpress had 

actual or constructive knowledge that the examination table was "defective." Further, there is no 

evidence to suggest that MedExpress prevented Mr. Minnich from discovering any purported 

10 




"defect" of the subject exam table if such was the case. Accordingly, Petitioner cannot 

demonstrate the necessary elements for a premises liability claim based upon a "defective 

examination table". 

Petitioner relies upon Mr. Minnich's alleged weakened condition as the basis for her 

asserted "premises liability" claim. She alleges Mr. Minnich's medical history necessitated that 

Mr. Minnich be assisted or observed getting on to the exam table. Again, Mr. Minnich's alleged 

injury occurred immediately after he was triaged by a health care provider and as part of the 

continuity of care being provided. Any act or treatment performed or furnished, or which should 

have been perfomled or furnished, by a health care provider contemplates all activities of health 

care providers and/or its employees ancillary to, and inherently involved in, providing medical 

services to a patient. See, W.Va. Code §55-7B-2(e) (2010). 

In an attempt to create an issue of fact supporting her claim of premises liability, 

Petitioner argues that the alleged negligence occurred as a result of MedExpress' purported 

"failure to prepare the examination table for use prior to directing Mr. Minnich to sit on it." 

(Petitioner Br., at 14.) Thus, Petitioner mischaracterizes her Complaint as simply involving 

MedExpress' purported failure to fully extend a foot-step, thereby creating an unsafe 

environment for "business invitees" such as Mr. Minnich. Id. Of note, Petitioner expressly 

asserts at ~ 31 of her Complaint that MedExpress purportedly failed to: "provide assistance, 

supervision and attempt to take basic precautions and procedures to guard and protect the safety 

of its customers" to support its claims for negligence. (JA 34). Further, Petitioner asserts that it 

was: 
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reasonably foreseeable that directing an individual weakened by illness and 
only recently walking without assistance to get on an exam table without 
making certain that the retractable step is fully extended, without assisting 
himlher to get on the table and without observing himlher to get on the table 
and with observing himlher getting on the exam table would result in injury. 

See, Complaint ~ 31. (JA 34). 

Petitioner's Complaint, through the express allegations, suggests that MedExpress, and 

its health care providers, failed to exercise proper clinical judgment in evaluation of patients 

while providing health care. Further, the Complaint asserts claims for negligence based on 

individuals presenting as potential fall risks upon consideration and evaluation of their: medical 

and clinical history; physical presentation; chief complaints; and purportedly failing to 

implement health care policies and procedures to address the same. Such allegations and 

suggestions clearly involve the administration of health care and professional judgment and 

decisions being undertaken and made by health care providers and do not amount to a "simple" 

claim for premises liability. 

In order for there to be an issue of fact to preclude the grant of summary judgment, the 

issue of fact must be "genuine" and "material." Thus, despite Petitioner's protestations that the 

record evidence purportedly supports a finding that MedExpress and MA Hively were negligent, 

(Petitioner Br., at 14) those "facts" are not material to the question that the Circuit Court decided. 

"A material fact is one that has the capacity to sway the outcome of the litigation under the 

applicable law." Syllabus Point 5, in part, Jividen v. Law, 194 W.Va. 705, 461 S.E.2d 451 

(1995). That is, even if the allegations of negligence were accepted as true, it does not change the 

fact that MedExpress' purported actions (or inactions) were grounded in the administration of 

health care services. Thus, for Petitioner to argue that the Circuit Court ignored record evidence 

that would have created a "genuine issue ofmaterial fact" is simply untrue. The facts asserted to 

be "material" are not so, period. 
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III. 	 The Circuit Court Did Not Commit "Multiple Errors" In Granting Summary 
Judgment In Finding That The MPLA Applied To This Case (Assignment of Error 
11). 

A. 	 Andrew Minnich Received Medical Services At MedExpress Prior To His 
Fall (Assignment of Error lIa). 

In support of Petitioner's claim that this case should be deemed to be one of premise 

liability, rather than one for medical professional liability, Petitioner states that there is "not a 

scintilla of evidence to support the conclusion that Mr. Minnich was evaluated and triaged by a 

health care provider prior to his fall." (Petitioner Br., at 18.) This is demonstrably false. Indeed, 

MA Hively's deposition testimony details the triage that occurred: 

Q: 	 Tell me everything that happened in triage.

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